**RECEIVED**

**Sep 24 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Thomas W. McGee, III, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2021-CP-40-05620  
Appellate Case No. 2025-000902

Sherman Green, ..... Respondent,

v.

City of Columbia and George Simpson, ..... Defendants

of whom

George Simpson is ..... Appellant.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

John S. Nichols, Esquire  
SC Bar # 4210  
Bluestein Thompson Sullivan, LLC  
P.O. Box 7965  
Columbia, SC 29202  
(803) 779-7599  
[John@bluesteinattorneys.com](mailto:John@bluesteinattorneys.com)

Mary Daniel LaFave, Esquire  
SC Bar # 75366

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

Did the Circuit Court err in denying Officer Simpson's motion for summary judgment based upon qualified immunity because under the undisputed facts either:

A. It was objectively reasonable for Officer Simpson to believe that probable cause existed to arrest Plaintiff?

Or

B. Officers of reasonable competence could disagree on whether the probable cause test was met so as to support obtaining a warrant for Plaintiff's arrest?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 15, 2021, Sherman Green (Plaintiff) filed a summons and complaint against the City of Columbia and one of its police officers, George Simpson. (Complaint). Plaintiff alleged causes of action related to Investigator Simpson's arrest of Plaintiff on December 5, 2019, for murder. The charges arose out of the death of Dara Washington on December 4, 2019. Plaintiff was held in jail until February 12, 2020, when a magistrate dismissed the charges. Plaintiff's lone claims against Officer Simpson were for unlawful arrest and malicious prosecution under 28 U.S.C. § 1983, asserting a lack of probable cause for the arrest. (Complaint, pp. 6-7, First Cause of Action).

Following service upon the defendants, Officer Simpson filed his Answer on December 20, 2021. (Simpson Answer). Among other defenses Officer Simpson raised qualified immunity. (Answer, p. 6, Third Defense).

On December 21, 2021, the City removed the matter to the United States District Court. (Notice of Removal). On May 24, 2022, the District Court remanded the matter back to the state court. (Remand Order). With leave of court on January 30, 2023, Officer Simpson filed an amended Answer raising, among other things, qualified immunity. (Amended Answer, p. 6, Third Defense).

Following discovery pursuant to a scheduling order, on May 3, 2024, Officer Simpson moved for summary judgment on the ground of qualified immunity. (Simpson Motion for Summary Judgment). The City also moved for summary judgment on May 6, 2024. (City's Motion for Summary Judgment). On August 23, 2024, Officer Simpson filed a memorandum in support of summary judgment. (Memo. filed 8/23/24 with attachments). That same date the City

filed a memorandum in support of its motion.

On August 26, 2024, Plaintiff filed his Memorandum in Opposition to both motions for summary judgment. Following additional discovery Plaintiff filed an amended Memorandum in Opposition on December 5, 2024. (Amended Memorandum with attachments).

On January 16, 2025, the circuit court entered a detailed Form 4 order denying the City's motion for summary judgment. (Form 4 Order of 1/16/25). On January 27, 2025, the City moved for reconsideration.

On April 10, 2025, the court entered a detailed Form 4 order denying Officer Simpson's motion. (Form 4 Order 4/10/25). Officer Simpson moved for reconsideration on April 21, 2025. (Simpson Motion for Reconsideration with exhibits).

On May 8, 2025, Officer Simpson filed and served a notice of appeal "out of an abundance of caution." Plaintiff had contended Officer Simpson's failure to send a copy of the motion for reconsideration to the judge violated Rule 59(g), SCRCF, and this violation made the motion for reconsideration untimely. (Notice of Appeal of May 8, 2025).

On May 14, 2025, Plaintiff filed a memorandum in opposition to the motion for reconsideration. (Memo. in Opp. with attachments). The circuit court entered a Form 4 order on June 27, 2025, noting that Officer Simpson withdrew the motion for reconsideration with Plaintiff's consent. (Form 4 order on June 27, 2025).

The matter is now before this Court.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The order on appeal denied Officer Simpson's motion for summary judgment on the ground of qualified immunity, which denied Officer Simpson's right to avoid not only trial but also the burdens of pre-trial matters, including discovery. The Court must therefore apply the same standards as those applied below, and determine whether the pleadings, depositions, affidavits, and discovery on file show there is no genuine issue of material fact on the issue of qualified immunity such that Officer Simpson must prevail as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRCP; *Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 440 S.C. 456, 463, 892 S.E.2d 297, 301 (2023).

This requires the Court to assess whether the undisputed portions of the record establish, as a matter of law, that Officer Simpson had probable cause to obtain the arrest warrant for Plaintiff. Whether an arrest warrant was supported by probable cause is a question for the court, not for a jury. *Carter v. Bryant*, 429 S.C. 298, 310, 838 S.E.2d 523, 530 (Ct. App. 2020). The reviewing court, while giving great deference to the magistrate's probable cause conclusion, must decide whether the conclusion is anchored by a substantial basis. *Id.*

## FACTS

This case involves the death of Dara Washington (“Victim”). Taking the facts in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff, on December 4, 2019, the Plaintiff and Aja Prophet (herein “Prophet”) were sharing a room at the Budget Inn at 1601 Sunset Drive in Columbia. Plaintiff and Prophet had been living in Room 115 at the Budget Inn for a “month or two.” (Exhibit A, Pl’s Depo. p. 47, ln. 1; p. 91, ln. 23). Plaintiff had an unrelated 2017 pending murder charge and was out on bond. (Exhibit A, Pl’s Depo. p. 56, ln. 7).

On December 4, 2019, Plaintiff testified that, after smoking marijuana and drinking whiskey with Prophet early in the day, he decided to go to the store that evening. (Exhibit A, Pl’s Depo. pp. 68-69). He recalled that he left the hotel room shortly before 8:00 p.m. and was aware that Prophet had “company” coming to the hotel room. (Exhibit A, Pl’s Depo. p. 70, ln. 3-4). Plaintiff walked to the Family Dollar and Burger King and returned 30 minutes later. (Exhibit A, Pl’s Depo. p. 71, 73).

The events that occurred in Room 115 after the Plaintiff returned resulted in a multi-disciplinary response by the City of Columbia and are the subject of the instant action. The Victim died at the scene and Officer Simpson was the investigating officer. The encounter between the Plaintiff, Prophet, and the Victim that night can best be understood using the three-part description provided by the eye-witness Prophet in her statement to investigators. (Exhibit B, Prophet’s Statement).

### **PART 1: Prophet and the Victim**

The first part of the altercation occurred when the Plaintiff was still at the store and the Victim would not permit Prophet to leave the hotel room. Specifically, Prophet described that

after she and the Victim had sex multiple times they would smoke crack cocaine. According to Prophet, after the second “hit” that night, the Victim “freaked out,” thinking he was being set up by Prophet to be robbed by Plaintiff. (Exhibit B, Prophet’s Statement). Prophet explained that she tried to get out of the room but the Victim would not let her.

Plaintiff, who Prophet described as her “brother” or “cousin,” returned and was trying to “figure out a way to get in the room.” (Exhibit B, Prophet’s Statement). Plaintiff yelled at Prophet from outside the door of the motel room to lock herself in the bathroom. She did so and waited for everyone to calm down. (Exhibit B, Prophet’s Statement).

The motel’s video surveillance shows Plaintiff outside the hotel room in an orange shirt yelling, kicking the door, and causing a disturbance. (Exhibit C, Budget Inn Surveillance Video, timestamp around 5 minutes; Exh. A, Plaintiff’s dep., p. 96, l. 16). Plaintiff admitted that he was yelling loud enough that another patron of the hotel called and made a complaint causing the night manager to respond. (Exhibit A, Pl’s Depo. p. 104; Exhibit C, Budget Inn Surveillance (video timestamp up through 9 minutes and 58 seconds)).

## **PART 2: The Calm**

The second part of the events consists of about 15 minutes where everyone had calmed down. (See Exhibit B, Prophet’s Statement). Plaintiff corroborated Prophet’s description that there was a lull in the excitement for about 15 minutes while Prophet was in the bathroom, and Plaintiff testified that he and the Victim were calm while waiting on the police. Around this time, Plaintiff is informed by the night manager that the manager has also called the police before the manager leaves the immediate vicinity. (Exhibit A, Pl’s Depo. p. 98, l. 9; p. 102, l. 22; Exhibit C, Budget Inn Surveillance (see video timestamp up through 12 minutes 8 seconds)).

Minutes pass and the scene is calm enough that the Plaintiff leans against the nearby retaining wall with his leg casually propped up. (Exhibit A, Pl's Depo. p. 104, Exhibit C, Budget Inn Surveillance (see video timestamp up through 14 minutes and 27 seconds)). Plaintiff describes the scene at that moment: "She was in the bathroom, he was there, everything was calm. It was calm. Everybody was calm. Waiting on the police right now, really." (See Exhibit A, Pl's Depo. p. 108, ll. 12-14).

By this time it is uncontested that the Plaintiff knew that the Columbia Police Department had been summoned to the scene and that Prophet was locked behind a door out of harm's way. (Exhibit A, Pl's Depo. p. 90, l. 16). During this calm, the Victim made a phone call using the hotel phone line.

### **PART 3: Plaintiff and the Victim**

Everything would change as Plaintiff can be seen approaching the motel room door. Prophet heard Plaintiff yelling threats to the Victim and she exited the bathroom to "check" on things, opening up the door to the hotel room. (Exhibit B, Prophet Statement; Exhibit D, Prophet Video Interview at 23:40:20 - 23:42:54). A few seconds before Prophet opened the door, the Plaintiff can be seen yelling at the door on video. Then Plaintiff quickly rushed into the hotel room. (Exhibit C, Budget Inn Surveillance).

At this moment, the Victim is high on crack cocaine and naked. Prophet recalled in her statement that the Plaintiff rushed into the hotel room and "roughed" up the Victim. (Exhibit B, Prophet's Statement). The Plaintiff would initially lie to law enforcement about this moment, though he would later tell the truth at the station. (See Exhibit A, Pl's Depo. p. 122).

The Plaintiff explained that he lied when "[t]he officer asked me at the hotel did I hit him,

I say no.” (Exhibit A, Pl’s Depo. p. 122, ln. 12-13). The Plaintiff explained he did so “[b]ecause I was out on a murder bond and I didn’t want nothing to do with that.” (Exhibit A, Pl’s Depo. p. 122 -124). Eventually, the Plaintiff told the truth and explained, just as Prophet described, that the Plaintiff rushed into the hotel room and physically fought the Victim. The Plaintiff testified that the officer “manipulated (him) into telling the truth.” (Exhibit A, Pl’s Depo. p. 129, ll. 4-7). He also admitted that it would be reasonable for the officer to conclude that if Plaintiff lied about one portion of these events, that he lied about other details such as the severity of the attack. (Exhibit A, Pl’s Depo. p. 126, l. 25).

In the video recording of her statement to Defendant Simpson, Prophet described the Plaintiff’s actions in more detail. Prophet described the calm as she sat in the bathroom for about 15 minutes. She could hear the Victim on the phone with 911 and the Plaintiff still trying to get into the room. Importantly, she informed investigators that she heard the Plaintiff threaten the Victim stating “[w]ait until you come outside, I got something for you because this is some f\*cking sh\*t you pulling.”

Shortly thereafter, once the door was opened, Prophet said that the Plaintiff “bumrushed” the naked Victim and “jacked him up a little bit.” (Exhibit D, Prophet Video Interview at 23:40:20 - 23:42:54). She recalled that Plaintiff was so aggressive that she had to intervene to get Plaintiff off the Victim who had “learned his lesson.” (Exhibit D, Prophet Video Interview 23:48:09).

Consistent with Prophet’s statement, Plaintiff recalled under oath that Prophet also told him to “calm down.” (Exhibit A, Pl’s Depo. p. 113, l. 23). Video surveillance reflects that Plaintiff (orange shirt) then dragged the naked Plaintiff out of the hotel room and slung the

Victim into the concrete retaining wall, where the Victim struck his head. Plaintiff readily admitted that the Victim's head and hand hit the concrete retaining wall. (Exhibit A, Pl's Depo. p. 126).

After hitting his head, the Victim crumpled to the ground, got to his feet clumsily, and stumbled erratically toward the camera. The Victim appeared clearly disoriented and confused. (Exhibit C, Budget Inn Surveillance). Moments later, the Victim died on the scene at the Budget Inn parking lot in the presence of EMS.

Officer Simpson provided a synopsis of these facts in his case summary maintained by the City of Columbia as a business record that sets out his mental impressions of the investigation:

On 12/04/2019 at Sunset Dr. (Budget Inn motel), officers were dispatched to the location and observed the victim Mr. Dara Washington lying in the parking lot at the location unresponsive. He was transported to Prisma hospital (Richland Memorial) for treatment but was later pronounced deceased. Contact was made with [Plaintiff] who stated that while inside of room 115 at the location, a physical assault took place which led to him punching and kicking the victim several times inside of the room. The victim was extremely dazed and disoriented and was extremely unsteady on his feet as he retreated from the room before collapsing in the parking lot area where he was ultimately contacted by EMS and transported to the hospital where he was pronounced deceased. [Plaintiff] stated that he assaulted the victim because he observed the victim physically assaulting a witness who was also inside the room (Ms. Aja Prophet) and he felt the need to protect her from the victim.

An interview was conducted with Ms. Prophet who stated that she did not feel her life was in danger and she didn't feel that she needed to be protected from the victim but the victim was upset and was paranoid after he had smoked crack cocaine after they had sex and [Plaintiff] came to the room upset and the victim believed that Ms. Prophet had set him up to be robbed so he did not want for [Plaintiff] to come inside of the room due to his fear that [Plaintiff] was there to rob him. Ms. Prophet stated that as [Plaintiff] entered the room, the victim was not a threat to him and did not attempt to assault him prior to observing [Plaintiff] attack the victim with his fists while the victim cowered in a corner and dropped

to the ground. Ms. Prophet stated that she pulled [Plaintiff] off due to the assault appearing to be excessive and [Plaintiff] then drug him out of the room and tossed him out. Prior to entering the room, [Plaintiff] spoke with management at the location who came to the room and looked inside through the window and stated that everything appeared to be fine inside so he was not authorized to open up the door and he stated that the police has already been notified and were responding. During the 911 call for service, [Plaintiff] is heard on the recording threatening the victim while outside the room stating that he better hope that the police gets there before he gets inside of the room.

(Exh. F, Simpson Case Summary; Exhibit G, Full CPD Report).

The Victim was taken for an autopsy but the toxicology screen was not completed by the third-party lab until February 2020. (Exh. N, Goldberg Depo., p. 53). In the interim, Prophet and the Plaintiff were taken for interrogation. After his rights were read to him, the Plaintiff finally admitted that he assaulted the Victim in the hotel room and the officers could see the Plaintiff on the video slinging the Victim into the wall. (Exhibit E, Simpson Depo. p. 89 – 94). Plaintiff testified in his deposition that he would have considered a charge of assault and battery reasonable, he just did not agree with murder. (Exhibit A, Pl's Depo. p. 165, ll. 17-23).

Following the investigation, Officer Simpson consulted with his supervisor Sergeant Arthur Thomas along with Fifth Circuit Assistant Solicitor Lamar Fyall regarding the charges and probable cause. Officer Simpson disclosed to Sergeant Thomas all the information known to Officer Simpson. (Exhibit E, Simpson Depo. p. 269 – 280). Solicitor Fyall agreed with a finding of probable cause at that time and maintained, even in light of the finalized autopsy, that the Defendants had probable cause to make an arrest of the Plaintiff for a crime. (Exhibit H, Fyall Depo. p. 25-29, 75-79). After full review of the investigation, including the pending toxicology and Plaintiff's statements that he was defending Prophet, Sergeant Thomas decided to charge the Plaintiff with murder. (Exhibit E, Simpson Depo. p. 280, ln. 15).

On December 5, 2024, Officer Simpson provided an affidavit for an arrest warrant against the Plaintiff for the charge of murder to Magistrate Angela Ladson, who signed the warrant. (Exhibit I, Warrant). The warrant was based on the information known to Officer Simpson at the time, including his observations of the physical evidence, his review of the 911 call, his review videotapes, and his interviews with the Plaintiff and Ms. Prophet.

On December 5, 2024, Dr. Amy Durso conducted the autopsy but delayed declaring the cause of death pending toxicology results, but noted findings of blunt force injuries. (Exhibit J, Durso Depo. p. 13; Exhibit K, Preliminary Autopsy Report). Dr. Durso testified that she needed more information at the time. (Exhibit I, Durso Depo. p. 13-15). She also testified, consistent with this preliminary report, that she found physical evidence of assault and battery on the Victim in the form of “abrasions and lacerations.” (Exhibit J, Durso Depo. p. 56). She testified the injuries were to the Victim’s “forehead, the right lower chest, upper abdomen, the right hand, the knees, the right feet.” (Exhibit I, Durso Dep. p. 56, ll. 8-12).

At the preliminary hearing in magistrate’s court on February 12, 2020, Officer Simpson relayed the information he had at the time he gave his affidavit. (Exhibit M, Prelim Transcript). This included his observation of Ms. Prophet that night that she did not have any injuries, although she stated the Victim had been verbally aggressive with her. (Exhibit M, p. 17; ll. 14-23). Officer Simpson also stated that once the Plaintiff changed his story and admitted he did not calmly escort the Victim out of the room, he admitted “he was upset, he was angry through the whole course of him trying to get into the room and not being able to, and ... he did admit that the assault did take place in the room.” (Exhibit M, p. 18, l. 20 - p. 19, l. 15).

The magistrate stated “I don’t think there’s any dispute that [Victim] was assaulted.”

(Exh. M, p. 31, ll. 21-22). However, the magistrate dismissed the murder charge since toxicology, and consequently the cause of death, remained pending. (Exhibit M, Prelim Transcript, pp. 31, l. 24 - p. 33, l. 3; p. ). The magistrate stated:

Now, back to probable cause. I don't think you've got it, you don't have a manner of death here. You don't know if he had a bad heart and the cocaine caused the heart to stop which resulted in the death, we just don't know. There's no evidence in the record whatsoever that the assault caused the death. Therefore, at this time it's dismissed.

(Exhibit M, p. 36, ll. 7-14).

Seven days after the preliminary hearing, on February 19, 2020, the toxicology results were received, and the final cause of death was "excited delirium due to cocaine abuse *and physical altercation.*" (Exhibit L, Amended Autopsy Report) (emphasis added). Dr. Durso testified that in the thousands of autopsies that she has performed in her career, she had never rendered this conclusion before. (Exhibit J, Durso Depo. p. 47, ll. 2-3).

Upon receipt of the final autopsy, Fifth Circuit Deputy Solicitor Dan Goldberg elected not to pursue a direct indictment as to murder, specifically because of the questions surrounding the February 2020 "excited delirium" autopsy conclusion. (Exhibit N, Goldberg Depo. p. 44-53).

In denying Officer Simpson's motion for summary judgment based upon qualified immunity, the Circuit Court stated:

Judge McGee found certain material issues of facts as to the elements of all claims against Mr. Simpson including, but not limited to: (1) whether Simpson conducted a sufficient investigation of the incident before seeking and obtaining a warrant for murder; (2) whether Simpson fully disclosed all relevant, known information before seeking and obtaining a warrant for murder; (3) whether Simpson's actions in seeking and obtaining a warrant for murder included any material omissions or representations; (4) whether Simpson's acts and/or omissions caused or contributed to a false arrest of Plaintiff; and/or (5) whether Simpson's acts and/or omissions caused and/or contributed to a malicious

prosecution of the Plaintiff.

Because the Court finds that there are genuine issues of material fact regarding the claims against Defendant Simpson, this Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment is respectfully DENIED.

(Form 4 Order of April 10, 2025).

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENTS

### THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING OFFICER SIMPSON'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED UPON QUALIFIED IMMUNITY

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