RECEIVED
Dec 30 2025
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Thomas W. McGee, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000902

Sherman Green, Respondent,

v.

City of Columbia and George Simpson, Defendants, of which George Simpson is the Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Chris S. Truluck
924 Gervais Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 556-7285
Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENTS

I. This Court should dismiss this appeal where Appellant is not entitled to review of a denial of summary judgment in South Carolina or upon issues of fact.

Appellant, George Simpson, is now before this court on appeal of the trial court's denial of his summary judgment motion asserting qualified immunity as to Respondent's 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claims which allege violation of his clearly established rights for Appellant's 1) failure to investigate prior to arrest of Respondent, without probable cause, pursuant to *Sevigny v. Dicksey*,

846 F.2d 953, 11 Fed. R. Serv. 3d 315 (4th Cir. 1988), 2) failure to disclose, or omitting, material information refuting probable cause to the magistrate judge in obtaining Respondent’s arrest warrant for murder pursuant to *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154, 98 S. Ct. 2674, 57 L. Ed. 2d 667 (1978), 3) false arrest for custodial detention prior to securing a warrant pursuant to *Rogers v. Pendleton*, 249 F.3d 279, 294 (4th Cir. 2001) and/or for false arrest following the issuance of an invalid warrant for sixty-nine (69) days, and 4) malicious prosecution for arrest upon warrant, if facially valid, without probable cause pursuant to *Durham v. Horner*, 690 F.3d 183, 188 (4th Cir. 2012).¹⁰ Resp. Amend. Memo at 14-22. Appellant admits that the Respondent’s “right to be free from arrest absent probable cause was clearly established” and so only the trial court’s factual review of probable cause is presented in this appeal. App. Brief at 16; R. p. 53.

a. Pursuant to *Johnson v. Fankell*, 520 U.S. 911 (1997), this Court should dismiss this appeal where “the right to immediate appellate review” in 42 U.S.C. § 1983 actions “is a federal procedural right that . . . does not apply in a nonfederal forum” and denials of summary judgment are not appealable in South Carolina.

Pursuant to the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution, federal claims are “controlled by federal substantive law and state procedural law . . . as long as the state procedural law does not conflict with federal substantive right except where state procedure does not conflict.” *Montgomery v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 362 S.C. 529, 544, 608 S.E.2d 440 (S.C. App. 2004). “[T]he Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution [] provides that any state law that conflicts with federal law is ‘without effect.’” *Eggleston v. United Parcel Serv., Inc.*, 428 S.C. 373, 834 S.E.2d 713, 716 (S.C. App. 2019). However, the U.S. Supreme Court in *Johnson v. Fankell*, 520 U.S. 911 (1997) held that “[d]efendants in a state-court § 1983 action do not have a federal right

¹⁰ As provided in more detail in Section II below, Appellant has not raised as an issue on appeal Respondent’s 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim for violation of his rights pursuant to *Evans v. Chalmers*, 703 F.3d 636, 648-649 (4th Cir. 2012), or raised any argument before the trial court, regarding Appellant’s post-warrant failure to inform the assigned solicitor of Durso’s preliminary findings.

to an interlocutory appeal from a denial of qualified immunity.” *Johnson v. Fankell*, 520 U.S. 911, 911 (1997). “[T]he right to immediate appellate review . . . is a federal procedural right that simply does not apply in a nonfederal forum.” *Id.* at 921.

Petitioners were able to argue their immunity from suit claim to the [state] trial court, just as they would to a federal court. And the claim will be reviewable by the [appellate court] after the trial court enters a final judgment, thus providing petitioners with a further chance to urge their immunity. Consequently, the postponement of the appeal until after final judgment will not affect the ultimate outcome of the case.

Id. at 921. Otherwise, state courts control the issue of appealability. *Id.* at 919 (“the general rule, ‘bottomed deeply in belief in the importance of state control of state judicial procedure, is that federal law takes the state courts as it finds them.’”)

In South Carolina “it is well settled that an order denying summary judgment is never reviewable on appeal.” *Bank of N.Y. v. Sumter Cnty.*, 387 S.C. 147, 154, 691 S.E.2d 473, 477 (2010) (citing *Olson v. Faculty House of Carolina, Inc.*, 354 S.C. 161, 580 S.E.2d 440 (2003)). An appellate court is “prohibited from reviewing” the denial of a motion for summary judgment because it is “never subject to review, not in an interlocutory appeal [] or even after final judgment.” *AJG Holdings, LLC v. Dunn*, 392 S.C. 160, 167, 708 S.E.2d 218, 222 (Ct. App. 2011). “A denial of a motion for summary judgment decides nothing about the merits of the case, but simply decides the case should proceed to trial.” *Ballenger v. Bowen*, 313 S.C. 476, 477, 443 S.E.2d 379, 380 (1994). “The denial of summary judgment does not establish the law of the case, and the issues raised in the motion may be raised again later in the proceedings by a motion to reconsider the summary judgment motion or by a motion for directed verdict.” *Id.*

Accordingly, this appeal from an order denying his motion for summary judgment for qualified immunity as to any of Respondent’s 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claims should be dismissed pursuant to

Johnson v. Fankell, 520 U.S. 911, 911 (1997) which defers to South Carolina Law on the appealability of denials of summary judgment, and South Carolina never allows such review.

b. Alternatively, were this court to analyze Appellant’s appeal pursuant to federal procedural law, this Court should dismiss this appeal as concerning unappealable issues of fact and not Respondent’s clearly established right(s) as a matter of law.

On May 14, 2025, this Court dismissed this appeal, sua sponte, because “[t]his appeal arises out of an order of the circuit court denying Appellant’s motion for summary judgment [and] . . . is not immediately appealable” (“Dismissal Order”). Dismissal Order. On May 16, 2025, Appellant filed his petition for rehearing (“Petition for Rehearing”) citing *Mitchell v. Forsyth*, 472 U.S. 511, 527 (1985) for the holding that denial of a claim of qualified immunity is an appealable final decision. *Mitchell v. Forsyth*, 472 U.S. 511, 527. Petition for Rehearing at 2. This Court reinstated the appeal stating, “we reinstate the appeal. See *Mitchell v. Forsyth*, 472 U.S. 511, 527 (1985) (‘We hold that a district court’s denial of a claim of qualified immunity, to the extent that it turns on an issue of law, is an appealable ‘final decision’).” Order Reinstating. Following Respondent’s request for clarification of the Order Reinstating, this Court clarified that “nothing prevents the parties from arguing the issue of appealability in their appellate briefs.” Order Clarification.

Notwithstanding the holding in *Mitchell v. Forsyth*, 472 U.S. 511, 527 (1985) which provided that a “denial of a claim of qualified immunity, . . . on an issue of law, is an appealable ‘final decision,’” the Supreme Court later clarified the appealability from denials of summary judgment on the issue of qualified immunity upon genuine issue of material fact in *Johnson v. Jones*, 515 U.S. 304, 115 S.Ct. 2151, 132 L.Ed.2d 238 (1995). In *Johnson*, the Court held a denial of summary judgment as to qualified immunity on factual grounds “was not immediately appealable because it merely decided ‘a question of evidence sufficiency,’ i.e., which facts a party may, or may not, be

able to prove at trial.” *Plumhoff v. Rickard*, 134 S.Ct. 2012, 188 L.Ed.2d 1056, 572 U.S. 765, 772 (2014); *Johnson v. Jones*, 515 U.S. 304, 115 S.Ct. 2151, 132 L.Ed.2d 238 (1995) (“a district court’s summary judgment order that, though entered in a ‘qualified immunity’ case, determines only a question of ‘evidence sufficiency,’ . . . is not appealable.”). “The Court noted that an order denying summary judgment based on a determination of ‘evidence sufficiency’ does not present a legal question in the sense in which the term was used in *Mitchell*, the decision that first held that a pretrial order rejecting a claim of qualified immunity is immediately appealable.” *Plumhoff*, 572 at 773. The Court further “observed that a determination of evidence sufficiency is closely related to other determinations that the trial court may be required to make at later stages of the case” and “that appellate courts have ‘no comparative expertise’ over trial courts in making such determinations and that forcing appellate courts to entertain appeals from such orders would impose an undue burden.” *Id.* at 773. Otherwise, *Johnson* determined that the issue of immediately appealable was relegated to, “not which facts the parties might be able to prove, but, rather, whether or not certain given facts show a violation of ‘clearly established’ law.” *Johnson*, 515 at 304. Accordingly, appeals from denials of summary judgment on the issue of qualified immunity for issues of material fact, as opposed to whether there exists a clearly established legal right, are not immediately appealable.

The order denying Appellant’s motion for summary judgment (“Order Den. MSJ”) provides, “Judge McGee found certain material issues of facts as to the elements of all claims against Mr. Simpson Because the Court finds that there are genuine issues of material fact regarding the claims against Defendant Simpson, this Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment is respectfully DENIED.” R. p. 4-5. The Order Den. MSJ makes explicitly clear that the basis for denying summary judgment is upon the existence of “genuine issues of material fact” as opposed to issues

of law. Alternatively, nowhere in Judge McGee's Order Den. MSJ are legal issues considered including whether Respondent's rights were not clearly established. Similarly, Appellant admits that Respondent's rights in this action have been clearly established. App. Brief at 16; R. p. 53.

Because the Order Den. MSJ is founded upon issues of material fact as opposed to the legal issue of whether Respondent's rights were clearly established, it is not immediately appealable, even pursuant to federal procedure, and this Court should dismiss.

II. Appellant has failed to address Respondent's 42 U.S.C. § 1983 *Evans v. Chalmers*, 703 F.3d 636, 648-649 (4th Cir. 2012) claim before the trial court, or in this appeal, as relates to Appellant's failures in his post-warrant conduct such that the claim should be remanded for further proceedings

Respondent has pleaded, twice referenced in his memoranda in opposition, and provided sufficient evidence of Appellant's violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and his rights pursuant to *Evans v. Chalmers*, 703 F.3d 636, 648-649 (4th Cir. 2012) for failure to inform Goldberg, the assigned solicitor, of evidence tending to conclusively refute probable cause following Respondent's arrest pursuant to warrant for murder. In the absence of any rebuttal from Appellant below or in this appeal, this claim should be remanded for further proceedings without review for lack of preservation.

"[W]hen . . . a prosecutor retains all discretion to seek an indictment, police officers may be held to have caused the seizure and remain liable to a wrongfully indicted defendant under certain circumstances. In particular, officers may be liable when they have . . . failed to disclose exculpatory evidence to the prosecutor." *Evans v. Chalmers*, 703 F.3d 636, 648-649 (4th Cir. 2012). In the filing of his complaint on November 15, 2021, Respondent pleaded a federal claim pursuant to *Evans v. Chalmers* and has presented evidence of Appellant's failure to disclose to, or for withholding from, the Fifth Circuit Solicitor's Office that 1) Appellant had no knowledge as to what the cause of death was, 2) that Durso's preliminary determinations led to substance abuse

overdose, and/or that 3) Respondent was acting in defense of his residence and family/friend resulting in Respondent's continued incarceration for approximately sixty-nine (69) days until the murder charge was dismissed at preliminary hearing on February 12, 2020. *Evans v. Chalmers*, 703 F.3d 636 (4th Cir. 2012).

At all times as provided above, **Simpson acted under color of state law**, . . . was at all times lacking . . . sufficient evidence to establish probable cause for homicide . . . or any other criminal violations and Simpson unlawfully arrested Plaintiff, performed a deficient investigation of known exculpatory evidence, made material omission(s) or misrepresentation(s) in the presentation of information to Judge Ladson in obtaining arrest warrant for Plaintiff, **willfully or recklessly withheld or misrepresented evidence to the Fifth Circuit Solicitor's Office** and/or used excessive force against Plaintiff **in proximate violation of his First, Fourth, Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment Rights**.

R. p. 17. On August 26, 2024, and December 5, 2024, Respondent again argued his *Evans v. Chalmers* claim for Appellant's failure to disclose post-warrant evidence refuting probable cause to the Solicitor in his memorandum in opposition and amended memorandum in opposition to Appellant's motion for summary judgment; respectively. R. pp. 308-309; R. pp. 343-344. When Appellant was asked, "[d]id you ever tell them that, in your own words, in your own memorandum, to the solicitor's office that you were told right after [the Warrant] that it's a suspected cocaine overdose?," to which he answered it would have been with Dan Goldberg after the preliminary hearing dismissal and release of Respondent from incarceration. R. p. 417, lines 4-7; R. p. 418, lines 7-9. Goldberg was similarly unable to recall any communication between himself and Appellant following his assignment to Respondent's case until its ultimate dismissal for lack of probable cause on February 12, 2020. R. p. 519; lines 23-25; R. p. 520, line 1. Upon information and belief, Appellant has never argued against this claim and does not do so now.

In the absence of any argument by Appellant tending to address any material issue of fact or law as to Respondent's allegations that Appellant failed to disclose to the Solicitor's Office

evidence tending to refute probable cause for murder, denial of Appellant’s motion for summary judgment should be affirmed and/or his appeal denied for lack of preservation of argument as to this claim.

III. There exists a genuine issue of material fact as to whether an objectively reasonable officer would have believed probable cause existed for Respondent’s arrest.

Appellant first argues that he “could have reasonably believed there was sufficient probable cause to arrest the [Respondent], that is ‘to believe that [Respondent] was committing or had committed a criminal offense.’” App. Brief at 19. Respondent respectfully submits that 1) a genuine issue of material fact exists as to whether an objectively reasonable officer would believe that Respondent committing the crime for murder and 2) that probable cause for other crimes does not negate a Fourth Amendment violation of Respondent’s rights pursuant to a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 malicious prosecution claim according to the U.S. Supreme Court in *Chiaverini v. City of Napoleon*, 144 S.Ct. 1745, 1751, 219 L.Ed.2d 262, 268-269 (2024). Otherwise, Respondent respectfully submits that under a totality of the circumstances he was acting in self defense of his residence and others such that Appellant’s arguments as to the existence of probable cause for other crimes does not negate the lawfulness of Respondent’s actions.

a. There exists a genuine issue of material fact as to the existence of probable cause for murder.

“[T]he unlawfulness of seeking out and executing a warrant after learning facts establishing a suspect's innocence was clearly established by [the] holding in *Merchant v. Bauer*, 677 F.3d 656.” *Thurston v. Frye*, 99 F.4th 665, 678 (4th Cir. 2024). In *Merchant v. Bauer*, the court held that qualified immunity was not appropriate where “the officer lacked probable cause to conduct the arrest, despite the issuance of a warrant, because he knew information before applying for the warrant that both undermined any other evidence the officer might have had and tended to

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